

LUND UNIVERSITY School of Economics and Management

Master's Programme in Economic Growth, Population and Development: Development Track

Factors behind Economic Shrinking

Single Case Study Insights from Nigeria

by

Jana Lange

Ja8686la-s@student.lu.se

Abstract: This thesis addresses the research problem of volatile growth and in particular economic shrinking in developing countries. A single case study of Nigeria drawing on qualitative as well as quantitative data assesses four potential factors behind the country's frequent and high shrinking rates between 1960 and 2017. The study finds a lack of structural transformation, productivity and diversification as well as a high reliance on the particularly volatile oil industry, no observable effects of demographic factors and potentially problematic frequent incidences of warfare particularly in recent years. Lastly, the thesis identifies an uncompleted institutional transition from a limited to an open access social order largely due to persisting inequalities resulting in a lack of economic opportunities for part of the population. The thesis provides broad policy recommendations with regard to the assessed factors taking into consideration how Nigeria has temporarily reduced economic shrinking in the past and how the country can profit from these previous experiences in the future. Institutional change constitutes the ultimate factor Nigeria needs to improve in order to become more resilient to economic shrinking since this will lead to automatic improvements in the other factors. These factors require an economic diversification with lower reliance on the oil sector and a reconciliation of the diverse societal groups in order to avoid further violent conflict in the future.

EKHS01 Master's Thesis (15 credits ECTS) June 2019 Supervisor: Andrés Palacio Examiner: Jutta Bolt Word Count: 14,313

Table of Contents

1	Int	troduction	
	1.1	Research Problem	1
	1.2	Aim and Scope	
	1.3	Outline of the Thesis	5
2	Th	eory	6
	2.1	Previous Research	6
	2.2	Theoretical Approach	
3	M	ethods	
	3.1	The Approach	
	3.2	Case Selection	
	3.3	Data and Source Material	
4	En	npirical Analysis: Case Study of Nigeria between 1960 and 2017	
	4.1	Nigerian Economic Perfomance	
	4.2	Factors behind Economic Shrinking in Nigeria	
	4.2	2.1 Proximate Factor: Structural Change and Technological Change	
	4.2	2.2 Proximate Factor: Demographic Change	
	4.2	2.3 Proximate Factor: Incidences of Warfare	
	4.2	2.4 Ultimate Factor: Institutional Change	
	4.3	Discussion	
5	Co	nclusion	
R	eferer	ices	
A	ppend	lix A	
A	ppend	lix B	
A	ppend	lix C	
A	ppend	lix D	

List of Tables

Table 4.1 The Nigerian economic performance	. 19
Table 4.2 Sectoral shares and contributions to economic shrinking and growing in Nigeria.	. 24
Table 5.1 The Nigerian economic performance	. 49
Table 5.2 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's agriculture, hunting, forestry and	
fishing sector	. 50
Table 5.3 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's mining and quarrying sector	. 50
Table 5.4 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's manufacturing sector	. 50
Table 5.5 Economic performance analysis of other Nigerian sectors	. 50

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Nigerian real and simulated GDP per capita	1
Figure 3.1 GDP per capita growth in Nigeria and Sub-Saharan Africa	15
Figure 4.1 Nigerian GDP per capita	18
Figure 4.2 Nigerian GDP per capita growth	19
Figure 4.3 Nigerian total factor productivity	21
Figure 4.4 Economic complexity index measuring the complexity of Nigerian export pr	oducts
and GDP per capita growth	22
Figure 4.5 Sectoral GDP shares of the Nigerian economy	23
Figure 4.6 Sectoral employment shares of the Nigerian economy	24
Figure 4.7 Real petroleum price	25
Figure 4.8 Nigerian total population and population growth	
Figure 4.9 Birth rate and death rate in Nigeria	27
Figure 4.10 Nigerian age pyramids	
Figure 4.11 Religions of Nigeria	30
Figure 4.12 Ethnicities of Nigeria	30
Figure 4.13 GDP per capita growth and armed conflict marked in Nigeria	32
Figure 4.14 Polity IV indicator for Nigeria	33
Figure 4.15 Estimated level of the Nigerian shadow economy	35
Figure 4.16 Nigerian Gini coefficient	36
Figure 4.17 Nigerian income shares	36
Figure 4.18 Nigerian primary gross school enrolment and gender parity index	37
Figure 5.1 Comparison of Nigerian GDP per capita growth rates from the Penn World	Fables
estimations and the World Bank national accounts data	49
Figure 5.2 Nigerian oil production value	51
Figure 5.3 Nigerian poverty headcount ratio	52
Figure 5.4 Nigerian unemployment rates	52
Figure 5.5 Nigerian rural and urban access to electricity	53

1 Introduction

1.1 Research Problem

In the past six decades since Nigeria's independence from colonial rule in 1960, the country's economy has suffered from a total of 21 years of economic shrinking. In comparison, the Sub-Saharan Africa region merely experienced 7 years of economic shrinking on average during the same time period. Nigeria therefore constitutes a case of particularly volatile national income growth. While economic growth and a lack thereof have constituted the centre of developmental debates, economic shrinking, i.e. negative national income growth rates, has received relatively little attention in those discussions. However, reoccurring and high rates of economic shrinking have a large impact on a country's income level in the long run. The simulation of a 1% growth rate in the years of economic shrinking in *Figure 1.1* demonstrates that Nigeria's income level would be three times higher than it is today had the economy not faced any episodes of economic shrinking. This drastic difference shows that avoiding economic shrinking by building a resilience thereof constitutes a key requirement in raising Nigeria's income level significantly in the long run.



Figure 1.1 Nigerian real and simulated GDP per capita in constant \$US, simulation of a 1% growth rate in the years of economic shrinking, 1960-2017 (author's calculations, data adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

While the frequent reoccurrence of negative growth rates in the long run Nigerian economic performance constitute a rather extreme case of volatile growth, the issue of being unable to

sustain previously generated growth constitutes a characteristic of many developing countries. Temporary economic growth without economic development is generally possible but only growth generated by economic development can be sustained over a longer period of time and lead to high income levels. Addressing the issue of economic shrinking is thus a key component in understanding why many developing countries face volatile long run growth trajectories. A better understanding of the factors leading to economic shrinking therefore generates knowledge concerning how countries can become more resilient thereof and eventually achieve higher income levels. The prospect of a higher resilience to economic shrinking leading to significantly higher income levels in the long run thus situates the issue within research on economic convergence between countries. Developing countries achieving resilience to economic shrinking thus presents a necessary condition in order to achieve so-called conditional convergence (Barro & Sala-i-Martin, 1992).

Previous literature on income growth volatility identifies two distinct country characteristics that correlate with unsustained long run growth trajectories. On the one hand, volatile growth is an issue generally faced by developing countries and on the other hand, the so-called resource curse predicts resource-abundant countries to face particularly volatile growth. The Nigerian case falls into both of these categories, perhaps explaining why Nigeria comparatively suffers particularly frequently from high rates of economic shrinking.

The earlier literature researching growth volatility independent of resource-abundance identifies economic shrinking as temporary shocks in response to crisis such as social conflict as well as in the global economy (Easterly et al.,1993; Rodrik, 1999). More recent studies however have moved away from merely identifying economic shrinking as an extreme situation but instead find developing countries to generally have a lower ability to sustain growth rendering economic shrinking a characteristic of a country's developmental stage (Pritchett, 2000; Berg, Ostry & Zettelmeyer, 2012). Nigeria's frequent economic shrinking could therefore be an indication of its low development levels on the one hand and a response to shocks in the world economy or local conflicts on the other hand.

Being a member of the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) and possessing 3.1% of the World's oil reserves (OPEC, 2019), another cause of Nigeria's reoccurring economic shrinking episodes may be rooted in the so-called resource curse. The resource curse literature has contributed to the problem of volatile growth by establishing a link between resource-abundance and a country's inability to sustain its growth in the long run. Scholars identify low levels of economic diversification due to the so-called Dutch disease causing currency appreciation in resource-abundant countries as well as weak and corrupt institutions as channels of the resource curse leading to a particularly volatile economy (Auty, 2001; Sachs & Warner, 2001; Ross, 2012; Mehlum, Moene & Torvik, 2006a).

While volatile and unsustained long run growth trajectories have thus received attention from development scholars as well as from proponents of resource curse theory, the specific term of economic shrinking is a rather recent contribution to the field. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) first coined the term in a working paper for the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) finding that the early European industrializers suffered from economic shrinking in the earlier stages of their economic development but became increasingly resilient thereof over time. Their findings show that a reduction in the frequency and rate of economic shrinking constituted an

essential part of the European industrializers' development, whereas the rate of economic growth remained rather stable. The author's therefore suggest a stronger focus of future research on the topic of economic shrinking as opposed to the literature's traditional focus on growth. Andersson (2018) and Andersson & Palacio (2017) show that these findings can be applied in analysing the growth paths of developing countries which helps understand their obstacles to economic development today.

This new addition to the existing literature regarding problems of growth volatility with its focus on economic shrinking can therefore offer a new perspective on the obstacles developing countries face in achieving modern economic growth and eventually catching up with the developed world. A focus on economic shrinking rather than growth thus presents economic historians, development economists and growth economists with a new analytical lens through which they might find new insights into the global income divergence. In adopting this perspective, scholars could aim to explain why some countries have failed to become more resilient against economic shrinking over time compared to others instead of explaining divergence in terms of higher and lower growth rates.

This thesis contributes to the previously outlined debates and to the research problem of long run unsustained growth trajectories in developing countries by focusing on the case of the volatile Nigerian economy between 1960 and 2017. The thesis assesses four different factors potentially contributing to economic shrinking and a higher resilience thereof for the case of Nigeria, which are derived from the literature: structural change including technological change, demographic change, changing incidences of warfare and institutional change. The analysis is guided by the research question:

Why has Nigeria faced reoccurring and high rates of economic shrinking since its independence from colonial rule in 1960 and how can the country avoid them in the future?

The thesis finds a failed structural transformation and a high reliance on the volatile oil sector whereas an impact of demographic factors on the observed episodes of economic shrinking seems unlikely. Furthermore, Nigeria's frequent incidences of warfare could present a factor behind economic shrinking in some, but not all cases. Lastly, the results show that Nigeria has not succeeded in establishing institutions that prevent societal privileges and rely on largely impersonal relationships. The thesis thus concludes that in order to avoid economic shrinking in the future, the Nigerian economy must proceed in the structural transformation that once started but now stagnates while becoming less reliant on its oil sector. Furthermore, the country must find institutional solutions to persisting inequalities which could also help prevent some of the warfare resulting from ethnic and religious tensions.

1.2 Aim and Scope

The thesis aims to identify the factors that have contributed to the reoccurring and high rates of economic shrinking Nigeria has faced between its independence from colonial rule in 1960 and 2017 in order to draw conclusions for a potential improvement of Nigeria's future resilience to

economic shrinking. In order to achieve this aim, the thesis identifies potential factors of economic shrinking in the literature and analyses changes in those factors with regard to changes in the Nigerian economic performance between 1960 and 2017. The results of this analysis firstly identify the periods in which Nigeria achieved the most and the least sustained growth of its economic history. These results then help to secondly, analyse the different factors contributing to economic shrinking and resilience thereof in Nigeria thus thirdly generating policy recommendations for a sustained growth path in the future.

The contribution of this thesis to the current development, growth and economic history literature is threefold. Firstly, it seeks to contribute to theoretical debates on why some developing countries are able to generate but unable to sustain economic growth by exploring the factors potentially contributing to economic shrinking. The thesis primarily draws on Broadberry and Wallis (2017) theoretical approach to identify the factors of economic shrinking and expands their institutional factor further by drawing on earlier research by North, Wallis and Weingast (2009).

Secondly, the thesis constitutes a methodological contribution in approaching the topic of economic shrinking with the single-case study method in contrast to the frequently employed method of econometric panel data studies in previous literature on volatile growth (Easterly et al., 1993; Pritchett, 2000; Berg, Ostry & Zettelmeyer, 2012) and to the comparative history approach by Broadberry and Wallis (2017). The thesis demonstrates the practicability of employing analytical narratives of single cases in research regarding economic shrinking by delivering context-specific policy implications based on an in-depth analysis of the case at hand.

Thirdly, the thesis more specifically contributes to a more thorough historical understanding of Nigeria's long run growth path since the country's independence from colonial rule. The thesis thus adds an economic historic perspective to previous assessments of the country's economy frequently solely focusing on the status quo such as many of the International Monetary Fund's country reports (IMF, 2019).

The scope of the thesis is limited to the Nigerian case in the specified time frame of 1960 to 2017. Furthermore, the thesis's analysis is limited to the four factors discussed below which are taken into consideration based on the existing literature. This focus on a specific case and previously specified factors therefore leads to case-specific results. The thesis therefore refrains from "statistical generalization" (Yin, 2003, p.10) and instead only conducts "analytic generalization" (Yin, 2003, p.10) by evaluating to what extent the empirical results of the Nigerian case correspond to the predictions of existing theories of economic shrinking. The scope of the thesis furthermore encompasses a discussion of the factors with regard to their potential in rendering the Nigerian economy more resilient to economic shrinking in the future. With an analytical focus on four potential factors based on previous literature, the thesis does not deny a potential impact of other unobserved factors of economic shrinking.

1.3 Outline of the Thesis

The thesis begins with a discussion of the theory by first outlining the previous research regarding the general issue of unsustained economic growth in developing countries and then presenting the more specific theoretical approach of economic shrinking serving as an analytical guide to the rest of the thesis (chapter 2). Chapter 3 then provides the reader firstly, with a presentation of the methodology employed in order to answer the research question, secondly, with a justification of the case selection and lastly with a critical assessment of the data and sources employed. The empirical analysis of the Nigerian case follows in chapter 4 beginning with an analysis of the economy's performance between 1960 and 2017, before assessing the contribution of the proximate factors to this economic performance, namely structural transformation, demographic change and incidences of warfare. Then the empirical analysis continues with an analysis of the ultimate factor of Nigeria's economic performance, i.e. institutional change between open and limited access orders. The empirical section ends with a discussion of the results of the empirical analysis with regard to their potential in creating a higher resilience against economic shrinking in the future. Chapter 5 concludes the thesis by summarizing the results and contextualizing them within current debates.

2 Theory

This chapter first outlines and discusses the previous research regarding economic growth and the issue of sustaining that growth by summarizing the main findings and limitations of previous research. Then, the second section of this chapter addresses the topic of economic shrinking in particular and the theoretical approaches relevant to the subsequent empirical analysis.

2.1 Previous Research

Standard neoclassical economic growth models such as the Solow (1956) model traditionally focus on the sources of economic growth in developed countries without accounting for the possibility of economic shrinking. The basic Solow model of economic growth assumes that national income depends on the stocks of capital and labour. As early as in 1928, Cobb and Douglas recognised that accounting exercises of capital and labour stocks leave a residual, which is now considered to be representing an economy's total factor productivity (TFP). TFP therefore captures the data that goes unmeasured by the production functions of neoclassical growth economists. In these neoclassical economic growth models, countries are assumed to gravitate towards their steady state level in the long run. Solow (1957) specifies that economies are able shift their steady state levels upwards through continuous technological change.

Growth accounting exercises comparing a range of countries show that the residual of unmeasurable growth in fact accounts for the largest differences in income between countries (Klenow & Rodriguez-Clare, 1997). The fact that the most important factor behind economic growth, i.e. the residual or TFP, remains an unmeasurable "black box" (Jones, 2016, p.22) thus constitutes a major concern with such neoclassical growth models. If the main factor behind differences in growth rates remains unexplained, this poses a problem for scholars interested in the mechanisms behind global income divergence and convergence. The drawback thus results in limited explanatory power of neoclassical models regarding developmental problems. According to Barro & Sala-i-Martin (1992), countries below their steady state and with lower income should receive higher investments than countries closer to their steady state with high incomes due to the diminishing marginal product of capital. These larger increases in the capital stock of poorer countries would consequently lead to convergence over time. The model thus differs significantly from the reality that many developing countries face stagnant growth rates or even shrinking economies. The neoclassical models may thus be more accurate in explaining the steady long-term growth trajectories in developed economies than the volatile growth of many developing economies.

The paradox of lacking income divergence between countries after the emergence of modern economic growth among the European industrializers not only puzzles neoclassical economists

but also economic historians. Economic historian Gerschenkron (1962) hypothesizes that developing countries should be able to employ already existing technology for rapid productivity increases without having to rely on innovation. Developing countries would accordingly be able to generate higher growth rates than developed countries eventually leading to income convergence. In reality however, catching up has been the exception rather than the rule. While the so-called East Asian Tigers successfully entered the ranks of high-income countries by the end of the 20th century (World Bank, 1993), Latin America seems to be captured in a middle income trap (Paus, 2014) and Sub-Saharan Africa's lack of economic growth throughout the 20th century raises concerns (Austin, 2016). The non-linear growth paths of many developing economies thus remain unexplained by traditional models of economic growth and require a new perspective on long run economic performance.

Due to the lack of explanatory power of neoclassical growth models, in explaining stagnating convergence and volatile growth trajectories, new theories of economic growth have emerged. In recent years, new institutional economics focuses on the role of formal and informal institutions for the initial emergence of modern economic growth and the subsequent income divergence between countries (Acemoglu, Johnson & Robinson, 2004; Engerman & Sokoloff, 2003; North, Wallis, & Weingast, 2009). While scholars such as Acemoglu, Johnson & Robinson (2001) and Nunn (2008) find obstacles to modern economic growth to be engrained in countries' histories, other scholars such as Rodrik (2000; 2008) have sought a less deterministic approach to institutional development in recognizing the capacity of different institutional arrangements in directly shaping economic outcomes. Much of this institutional literature focuses largely on current income levels disregarding the specific long run growth trajectories that have led to the current economic outcomes therefore compressing history (Austin, 2008).

Previous literature on the issue of unsustained growth pays closer attention to the long run growth paths of developing and developed economies and in what they differ. This literature finds that many developing economies suffer from particularly volatile and unsustained growth compared to developed economies, rather than merely experiencing consistently low growth rates. Literature on volatile growth thus addresses a developmental issue considered neither by neoclassical economists nor by new institutional economists: growth does not always proceed in a linear fashion but rather fluctuates greatly in many economies. Early scholars of the topic such as Easterly et al. (1993) and Rodrik (1999) relate economic shrinking to temporary economic shocks due to changes in the terms of trade or social conflict. More recent literature on the topic holds that there are essential and persisting differences between the shapes of the long run growth trajectories in developing and developed countries (Pritchett, 2000). Berg, Ostry & Zettelmeyer (2012) find the length of what they call "growth spells" (p.150) to be related to long-term institutional factors such as macroeconomic policies, trade regimes and income distribution. A recent report by the International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2014) highlighting the goal of developmental policies as sustaining growth rather than merely the initiation of growth demonstrates the increasing significance of the topic in developmental debates.

Proponents of the resource curse hypothesis also recognise the issue of volatile growth. However, the focus of this theory lies on the growth volatility of resource-abundant countries only. Auty (2004) shows that oil-rich countries in particular face highly volatile growth trajectories and are often unable to sustain the generated economic growth. Two main factors determine this relationship between unstable growth and resource-abundance. Firstly, the so-called Dutch disease predicts that inflows of foreign capital towards the abundant natural resource result in exchange rate appreciations rendering other economic sectors uncompetitive and thus leading to an even higher reliance on the abundant natural resource (Ross, 2012). Secondly, an abundance of natural resources tends to weaken the institutional quality due to the reliance on rents rather than taxes as government income rendering the government unaccountable and intransparent (Mehlum, Moene & Torvik, 2006b; Ross, 2012). Resource curse theories thus explain why resource- and particularly oil-rich countries such as Nigeria are likely to experience volatile long run growth drawing on similar arguments as other scholars of unsustained growth while particularly highlighting the role of natural resource dependence.

In explaining why global income diverged with the advance of modern economic growth, the focus has generally shifted away from neoclassical short-term economic equilibria towards long run paths of development and historic contextualisation. Combining an economic history perspective with insights from traditional growth accounting as well as with insights derived from new institutional economics, Broadberry and Wallis (2017) explicitly shift the research focus away from economic growth towards economic shrinking. The authors empirically show that the early European industrializers achieved an increasingly higher resilience to economic shrinking rather than increasingly higher growth rates. Accordingly, their modern economic growth was characterised by steady but relatively moderate growth rates no higher than 2%. The significant income increases in Europe from the 18th century were instead achieved by progressively succeeding in decreasing the frequency and rate of economic shrinking. The analysis in this thesis is based on their theoretical approach to economic long run performance with a focus on economic shrinking as further elaborated below.

2.2 Theoretical Approach

The thesis mainly draws on Broadberry and Wallis (2017) theoretical approach of economic shrinking in its empirical analysis. The authors shift away from the traditional focus on economic growth towards the negative growth rates: economic shrinking. The key to economic development of the early European industrializers according to this theoretical approach were not increasingly high growth rates but instead a growing resilience against economic shrinking. From this perspective, volatile growth rates thus constitute a characteristic of low levels of economic development. Achieving sustained growth becomes a key achievement on the path to economic development.

The theory of modern economic growth as the ability to avoid economic shrinking not only has implications for the economic history of Europe but also has potentially important consequences for modern development policies. The results of Broadberry and Wallis (2017) analysis could indicate that the largely stagnant convergence process of global income levels

cannot simply be attributed to the developing economies' failure to achieve growth but instead raises questions on how to maintain growth. This assumption is reinforced by Andersson's (2018) descriptive analysis of economic performance trends showing that Sub-Saharan Africa would slowly converge with the developed world at the speed of 2.5% growth rates since 1950 if it had faced shrinking rates of a scope similar to Asia. Instead, the continent has continuously diverged with the growth frontier in the past. The main difference between the developing and developed countries' growth trajectories can therefore not be found in the faster growth rates of the latter but rather in their resilience against economic shrinking. Andersson and Palacio (2017) also highlight the important role of increasing developing economies' resilience to shrinking in achieving global income convergence.

Broadberry and Wallis' (2017), Andersson's (2018) and Andersson's and Palacio's (2017) findings offer theoretical and empirical support for a critical role of economic shrinking and resilience thereof in economic development thus providing researchers with an incentive to cease the sole focus on factors behind growth and begin to pay equal attention to the causes of economic shrinking. This thesis will adopt their suggested perspective of an analytical focus on economic shrinking in order to assess the Nigerian long run economic performance between 1960 and 2017.

Broadberry and Wallis (2017) propose an economic performance analysis deconstructing long run economic performance into episodes of growing and shrinking. Their formula to determine an economy's performance throughout a given time period can be summarized as follows:

Economic Performance = Frequency of income growth × average income growth + Frequency of income shrinking × average income shrinking

Economic performance consequently depends on the frequency at which shrinking and growing episodes occur as well as on the episodes' respective average rate. The thesis follows the authors' research strategy in employing this economic performance analysis as the basis of their factor analysis.

Based on Maddison's (1987) understanding of the contribution of growth accounting to research regarding long run growth paths, Braodberry and Wallis (2017) outline four "proximate factors" (p.13) as well as one "key ultimate factor" (p.27) determining an economy's growth and shrinking. They classify structural change, technological change, demographic change and the changing incidence of warfare as proximate factors of economic performance, whereas they present institutional change as the key ultimate factor.

In presenting institutional change as the ultimate factor behind economic shrinking and resilience thereof, Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) argument corresponds closely to that of the new institutional economists presented above. Berg, Ostry & Zettelmeyer (2012) and Rodrik (1999) share the perspective that institutions play a crucial role in sustaining growth and confirm the assumption empirically in econometric panel data studies. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) more closely define the broad term of institutional change as the transition from a system of "identity rules" (p.24) to a system of "impersonal rules" (p.24). The authors assume impersonal rules to contribute to a higher resilience to economic shrinking since rules tied to

identity create commitment issues whenever the specific individuals in power are subject to change. North, Wallis and Weingast (2009) elaborate the concept further holding that "open access orders" (p.11) are more successful in sustaining growth than "limited access orders" (p.12). On the one hand, limited access orders are characterized by institutions lacking the "consent of the governed" (North, Wallis and Weingast, 2009, p.12), "small numbers of organizations" (p.12), relatively small and centralized institutions and by personal social relationships organized through privilege, hierarchy, inequalities and insecure property rights. On the other hand, open access orders are characterized by a large number of organisations and a vibrant civil society, relatively big and centralized institutions, and by "impersonal social relationships" (p.12) organized through the rule of law, equality and secure property rights.

Drawing on Broadberry and Wallis (2017) factors of economic shrinking and the further elaboration of their ultimate factor of institutional change by North, Wallis and Weingast (2009), this paper derives three proximate factors and one ultimate factor determining economic shrinking and resilience thereof. The first proximate factor constitutes "structural change" (Broadberry and Wallis, 2017, p.13) (including "technological change" (p.13)), the second proximate factor is "demographic change" (p.13) and the third proximate factor is constituted through "changing incidence of warfare" (p.13). The ultimate factor of "institutional change" (Broadberry and Wallis, 2017, p.13) from a limited to an open access order presents the key factor in determining a country's resilience to economic shrinking. All factors considered in this paper are addressed by previous growth and development literature.

Proximate Factor: Structural Change and Technological Change

Lewis' (1954) two-sector model of the economy shows that labour movement out of the agricultural sector leads to industrialization eventually resulting in higher economic growth. This structural transformation from an agricultural society to an industry- and services-based economy constitutes an essential part of the economic development process. Recent econometric studies have confirmed the theory's predictions providing empirical evidence for a positive correlation between higher degrees of structural transformation and higher national income (Herrendorf, Rogerson & Valentinyi, 2013). In addition to this traditional focus on the agricultural and the industrial sector, researchers and international organizations are now also highlighting the need for economic diversification more generally in order to avoid growth volatility (Hausmann, Hwang & Rodrik, 2007; IMF, 2014). For their sample of European countries, Broadberry and Wallis (2017) find that the structural transformation itself did not contribute to a reduction in economic shrinking but rather the productivity improvements through technological change in each sector. However, they hold that these improvements were not large enough to explain the drastic European improvements in reducing economic shrinking thus rendering the assessment of additional factors necessary.

Proximate Factor: Demographic Change

Since rapid population growth can potentially result in a per capita reduction of available resources and since demographic factors determine the size and composition of the labour force, demographic changes need to be considered in any analysis of long run economic performance. The Malthusian trap model applicable to pre-industrial societies holds that economic growth causes the population to grow, eventually bringing per capita income back to its pre-growth

level (Malthus, 1878). Whereas, there is broad scholarly consent that developed countries have escaped the trap (Kögel & Prskawetz, 2001), there is more debate if and to what extent the model is applicable to developing economies in a modern context particularly with regard to the African continent (Korotayev & Zinkina, 2015; Clark 2007). Broadberry and Wallis (2017) assume that the escape of the European countries from the Malthusian trap may have contributed to a reduction in shrinking but hold that the exact relationship between demography and growth remains too contested in the literature to determine the exact nature of the factor's contribution to shrinking.

Proximate Factor: Changing Incidence of Warfare

Changing incidences of warfare potentially interact with the prosperity of an economy on the one hand and with demographic factors in reducing the population on the other hand (Broadberry & Wallis, 2017). Rodrik (1999) argues that social conflict plays a crucial role in low growth rates and negative shocks to economic performance. These conflicts can be either endogenous stemming from a fractionalized society or exogenous in the case of warfare against another country (Rodrik, 1999). However, some scholars see benefits to technological development resulting from warfare with the potential to increase state investment in research and development (Ruttan, 2006) in which case it may even be growth enhancing. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) find, in line with Rodrik's (1999) research, that war generally constituted a negative shock to the European economics and a reduction in the incidences of warfare would therefore result in a reduction of economic shrinking. However, they find no long run demographic effects contributing to a higher resilience to economic shrinking once the wars ended and thus do not ascribe a significant role to the reduction of warfare in eliminating economic shrinking altogether.

Ultimate Factor: Institutional Change

Institutional economists of the old school highlight the evolutionary nature of economics closely intertwined with societal and political changes (Veblen, 1898; Commons, 1931). New institutional economists such as Acemoglu, Johnson and Robinson (2004) and Engerman and Sokoloff (2003) have returned to this concept of development as a historical outcome highlighting how institutions evolved to be more or less conductive of economic growth. In line with this research, North, Wallis and Weingast (2009) developed a theory of modern economic growth and economic divergence based on the concept of limited and open access orders in which open access orders result in more stable growth trajectories due to their provision of equal access to organizations and the impersonal character of their institutions. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) base their ultimate factor contributing to a reduction of economic shrinking on this theoretical approach finding that the early European industrializers followed this institutional development path of transition from limited to open access when modern economic growth first emerged.

3 Methods

This chapter presents the justification and limitations of the methodological approach guiding the subsequent empirical analysis chapter of the thesis: the single case study approach. The second section of the chapter justifies the choice of the Nigerian case for the analysis and briefly presents relevant information on the country. The last section of the chapter discusses the reliability, representativeness and validity of the data and sources employed.

3.1 The Approach

As previously stated, Broadberry and Wallis's (2017) working paper on economic shrinking guides the thesis's analysis in terms of the different factors analysed as well as in choosing a historical long run perspective with a focus on economic shrinking. However, the thesis moves away from their comparative approach and instead employs the single case study method focusing on the sole case of Nigeria between 1960 and 2017 in order to achieve a more in-depth analysis.

As the title of their paper suggests, Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) concept of economic shrinking requires a historical and thus long-term perspective. The authors divide their analysis into proximate and ultimate factors of economic performance following Maddison's (1987) approach. In order to determine the proximate factor contribution of structural transformation and TFP to economic shrinking and resilience thereof, Broadberry and Wallis (2017) rely on traditional growth accounting techniques that Maddison (1987) finds to be particularly transparent due to concealing unavoidable "judgemental elements" (p.651) by the researcher to a lesser extent than econometric methods. Maddison (1987) however, also highlights the insufficiency of these methods in identifying the ultimate elements explaining economic performance. Therefore, Broadberry and Wallis (2017) resort to a historical comparative analysis between countries and time periods in the analysis of their remaining proximate factors of demographic change and changing incidences of warfare as well as for their ultimate factors in its analysis but focuses on a single case as opposed to Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) comparative approach.

With the broad range of factors of economic performance suggested by Broadberry and Wallis (2017) stemming from the neoclassical as well as institutional economic schools of thought, the thesis employs a single case study in order to incorporate all elements fully and achieve a holistic picture. An in-depth analysis of a single case helps understand which factors contribute to economic shrinking and resilience thereof in the individual context thus providing more specific policy recommendations than comparative studies. This research strategy is especially

fit for the institutional aspect of the analysis since the new institutional economics literature (North, 1991; Acemoglu, Johnson & Robinson, 2004; Greif & Laitin, 2004) highlights the relatively slow and incremental change of institutions as well as their historic character rendering an imposition of one-size-fits-all type institutions undesirable (Rodrik, 2008). An indepth analysis of a single case therefore provides the opportunity of identifying country-specific strategies that have historically contributed to or hindered a positive economic performance consequently resulting in context-specific policy recommendations that have previously found implementation in the specific case. Lastly, focusing on a single country also limits the effects of unobserved factors of economic performance that might differ across but not within countries over time such as geographical variables (Sachs, 2003).

Creswell defines the case study method as an in-depth analysis of a process restricted by time and activity (2014). The case study's scope is restricted to the existence of Nigeria as an independent state thus starting 1960 at its independence from British colonial rule and ends with the most recent data in 2017. The analysis is restricted to the post-colonial period since colonial factors resulting in resilience to economic shrinking are unlikely to be replicable and thus would not result in practicable policy recommendations.

Answering the research question,

Why has Nigeria faced reoccurring and high rates of economic shrinking since its independence from colonial rule in 1960 and how can the country avoid them in the future?

the single case study serves to illustrate the Nigerian patterns of economic growth and economic shrinking during the specified time period and to explain which different factors identified by previous literature on the topic contributed to economic shrinking or resilience thereof. Yin (2003) has developed a guideline for the design and methodology of case study research in the social sciences including economics. According to his classification of case studies, the case constitutes a "single case" (p.39) of explanatory and "holistic" (p.45) nature. The case is classified as holistic due to the theoretical approach's macroeconomic outlook focusing on the economic shrinking theory proposed by Broadberry and Wallis (2017) the case study provides the possibility for "analytic generalization" (Yin, 2003, p.10) by identifying links between the factors proposed by theory and economic shrinking in the Nigerian case. For the specific case of Nigeria, the case study can result in policy implications specifying the conditions that result in a higher resilience to economic shrinking.

An assessment of Nigeria's economic performance following Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) methodology for assessing the economic shrinking and growing during different time periods constitutes the basis of the empirical analysis. In order to link the empirical data to the previous propositions guided by theory the paper employs the analytical technique of "pattern matching" (Yin, 2003, p.116). For a factor to be relevant to Nigeria's economic shrinking, the factor has to be significantly different in periods of shrinking and growing according to the previously specified propositions. The analysis thus assesses whether the observed empirical trends correspond to the predicted trends of the propositions. This analysis determines the extent to which the empirical results represent the outcomes predicted by theory. The pattern matching

analysis is embedded in an analytical narrative (Rodrik, 2003) which will help cope with the data scarce context as well as historically contextualize the data. The following propositions guide the pattern matching analysis regarding each of the four factors under assessment:

Proposition A: Higher degrees of structural transformation, economic diversification and TFP correlate with a higher resilience to economic shrinking.

Proposition B: Demographic changes correlate with changes in economic performance.

Proposition C: An absence of warfare correlates with a higher resilience against economic shrinking.

Proposition D: Open access orders correlate with a higher resilience to economic shrinking

The main limitation of the single-case study are its context-specific results. As previously indicated "analytic generalization" (Yin, 2003, p.10) allows for inferences regarding the theory employed if the empirical results contradict that theory's predictions. However, results in line with the theory cannot confirm the theoretical assumptions as they only portray a single case instance. Furthermore, the thesis refrains from "statistical generalization" (Yin, 2003, p.10) since research encompassing a broader range of countries would be necessary. While the theoretical approach serves to guide the research in terms of which factors of economic performance the thesis incorporates, the approach also limits the thesis' scope to these four factors. Other factors with a potential effect on economic performance such as trade regimes may remain unobserved. Lastly, due to the speculative character of the narrative analysis approach (Rodrik, 2003), the results are of preliminary nature and require confirmation by further research into the causalities assumed by the theoretical approach guiding the analysis.

3.2 Case Selection

The Nigerian case constitutes a "critical" (Yin, 2003, p.40) and a "longitudinal case" (p.42) providing a rationale for the case selection. Nigeria can be considered a *critical* case since the country does not only possess Africa's largest economy with a 2017 Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of 375.77 billion \$US but also the continent's largest population of 190,886,311 (World Bank, 2019). The case is *longitudinal* since it provides sufficient variation in periods of economic shrinking and growing to allow for a comparison between these essentially different economic performance patterns within the same case. *Figure 3.1* shows that Nigeria's variation in frequency and scope of economic shrinking is particularly large compared to the Sub-Saharan African average. The analysis can thus employ this longitudinal case to assess the within case variation rather than requiring the resort to two cases with distinct growth and shrinking patterns.



Figure 3.1 GDP per capita growth in Nigeria and Sub-Saharan Africa in %, 1960-2016 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

The Nigerian economy combines two factors likely resulting in higher growth volatility according to previous literature: Nigeria is not only a developing country but also resourceabundant. The country is classified as a lower-middle income country by the World Bank (2017) with a GNI of 2,080 \$US and is a member state of the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) possessing 3.1% of the World's oil reserves (OPEC, 2019). The country therefore constitutes a particularly relevant case to the economic shrinking approach. Furthermore, an assessment of the Nigerian long run economic performance ties into the scholarly debate concerning the sustainability of the "African Growth Miracle" (Young, 2012) observed in the 2000s.

3.3 Data and Source Material

Following Broadberry and Wallis (2017) approach, the thesis relies on a mixture of quantitative and qualitative data. While using quantitative data wherever sufficiently available for the time period under examination, qualitative evidence helps contextualise that data and fills the remaining breaks where necessary. Analysing quantitative as well as qualitative data thus provides the advantage of presenting a more complete picture of the case using all available resources to collect information, which is particularly important in the data-scarce context of developing countries such as Nigeria, especially since the country has undergone several regime changes since its independence. Furthermore, particularly the proximate factor of changing incidences of warfare and the ultimate factor of institutional change require a qualitative historical narrative to contextualise the data.

Apart from the data scarce context and the different factors analysed requiring both quantitative and qualitative data, the national accounts and other data from developing countries such as Nigeria have received criticism due to the lack of resources of those countries as well as due to transparency issues in undemocratic regimes. The thesis will address this limitation by using the method of "data triangulation" (Yin, 2003, p.14) which is particularly fit for case studies. This includes the accumulation, comparison and evaluation of a variety of data for the same factor assessed. Yin (2003) highlights the importance of triangulating the data for case studies: case studies offer the advantage of being able to draw on a range of data instead of needing to rely on a single indicator per variable thus avoiding false conclusions based on data flaws. Consequently, case studies employ a holistic approach in capturing all available and research relevant data aiming to avoid capturing phenomena only partially. The paper follows this approach in multiple aspects. Combining quantitative and qualitative evidence, the thesis employs "data triangulation" (Yin, 2003, p.98) and triangulates "evaluators" (p.98) by taking different measures of the same factor into consideration. Lastly, the thesis takes four distinct factors as possible determinants of economic shrinking and a resilience thereof into consideration thus triangulating perspectives as suggested by Yin (2003).

The World Bank (2019) Development Indicators, the Groningen Growth and Development Centre 10-Sector Database (Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015) and Penn World Tables (Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015) and the Uppsala Conflict Data Program (2019a) constitute main data sources of the thesis. All of these sources are typically used in their respective fields and the specific sources employed are further elaborated with regard to their strengths and weaknesses in providing data concerning the Nigerian case in each chapter. Where multiple sources of data are available, the thesis compares these and justifies their utilisation.

4 Empirical Analysis: Case Study of Nigeria between 1960 and 2017

The chapter begins with the analysis of Nigeria's economic performance between 1960 and 2017 with regard to the frequency and rate of economic growth and shrinking episodes. Then, the second section of the chapter conducts an analysis of the three proximate factors of structural transformation, demographic change and changing incidences of warfare and of the ultimate factor of institutional change as derived from the chosen theoretical approach. The last section discusses the results and their policy implications for Nigeria.

4.1 Nigerian Economic Perfomance

Before being able to assess to what extent different factors have contributed to the frequency and rate of economic shrinking in Nigeria, the country's economic performance requires a closer assessment. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) provide a simple formula and methodology to identify periods of economic growth and shrinking (see *chapter 2.2*). This type of analysis of Nigeria's GDP per capita growth pattern between 1960 and 2017 constitutes the analytical starting point for the second part of the case study assessing the impact of each factor on the economy's long run performance.

The World Bank (2019) gathers Nigerian national account data since 1960 including GDP levels and growth data measured in United States dollars as well as in national currency. However, there are concerns regarding the reliability of national account data from developing countries such as Nigeria. Other databases of GDP levels such as the Penn World Tables (Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015) calculate the national income using methods such as extrapolation thus at times arriving at different data than the national accounts. A comparison of the GDP growth data from the World Bank (2019) and the Penn World Tables data (Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015) shows that the main trends and thus conclusions of the economic performance analysis are equal (see *Appendix A*). The data mostly varies in the scope of the recorded economic growth and shrinking, while length and timing of economic shrinking and growth periods is similar in both datasets. The following analysis employs the World Bank (2019) data due to its availability until 2017.



Figure 4.1 Nigerian GDP per capita in current \$US, 1960-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

Figure 4.1 shows that Nigeria's GDP levels largely stagnated after the country's independence from colonial rule in 1960. Up until the new millennium, GDP levels merely surged temporarily during the 1970s, but quickly fell back to original GDP levels in the early 1980s. The 2000s however, show a significant rise in income levels achieving a record high for the country. The Nigerian economy has however, faced a decline in income levels once again after 2013. The two GDP level surges subsequent declines in the 1970s and the 2000s already indicate economic shrinking in the 1980s and 2010s. The periods of stagnation on the other hand, require a closer assessment of the GDP growth rates in order to determine whether they stem from low levels of growth or from frequent shrinking.



Figure 4.2 Nigerian GDP per capita growth in %, triangles indicate shrinking, 1961-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

An assessment of GDP growth rates between 1960 and 2017 shows a more detailed picture of Nigeria's long run economic performance than mere income levels. *Figure 4.2* shows that Nigeria's economy shrunk during 21 of the 56 years since independence. While, it is thus unsurprising that Nigeria's income per capita levels stagnated throughout much of the 20th century (as seen in *Figure 4.1*), the GDP growth figure also shows a positive trend starting in the mid-1990s. Nigerian growth rates have become less volatile over time with lower growth as well as shrinking rates. The 2000s are the first decade since 1960 during which the Nigerian economy succeeded in maintaining growth without the disruption of economic shrinking. A more detailed assessment of the scope and frequency of economic shrinking and growing periods requires further analysis following the formula proposed by Broadberry and Wallis (2017).

	Shrinking	Shrinking	Growth	Growth	Shrinking	Growth	Economic
	frequency	rate	frequency	rate	total	total	performance
1960s	0.444	-7.265	0.556	7.026	-3.229	3.903	0.674
1970s	0.2	-8.317	0.8	7.301	-1.663	5.841	4.177
1980s	0.6	-7.435	0.4	2.394	-4.461	0.958	-3.504
1990s	0.5	-3.056	0.5	2.612	-1.528	1.306	-0.222
2000s	0	0	1	4.936	0	4.936	4.936
2010s	0.375	-1.987	0.625	3.309	-0.745	2.068	1.323
1960-2017	0.351	-5.564	0.649	4.921	-1.952	3.194	1.242

Table 4.1 The Nigerian economic performance, 1960-2017 (author's calculations based on data adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

Table 4.1 shows the contribution of economic shrinking and growing periods disaggregated into their scope and frequency to Nigeria's net economic performance per decade as well as for the entire time period under assessment. The calculations show that Nigeria's net economic

performance over the entire time span could have been as high as 3.2% growth rather than 1.2% had the economy not faced any economic shrinking. The calculations also confirm the previous observation that the 2000s were economically particularly successful for Nigeria, the highest net economic performance of the entire period under analysis of 4.9% stems from uninterrupted growth. The 1980s on the other hand with the highest shrinking frequency per decade and the second highest average shrinking rate constitute Nigeria's lowest economic performance. The country's longest uninterrupted growth spell lasted for 14 years between 2000 and 2014 and its longest shrinking period lasted for 4 years from 1981 until 1984 thus respectively coinciding with the highest and lowest economic performances per decade.

The Nigerian economic performance per decade can be classified into three patterns. The country's economic performance has suffered from net economic shrinking during the 1980s and 1990s. The 1960s and the most recent years since 2010 have seen moderate aggregate growth with a balance of shrinking and growing periods resulting in near stagnation. The 1970s and 2000s on the other hand constitute the most successful decades in terms of resilience to economic shrinking for the Nigerian economy. The economic performance of the 2000s stands out as the only decade characterised by a complete absence of economic shrinking periods. In terms of shrinking frequency, no clear trend emerges due to fluctuations per decade. However, both economic growth and shrinking rates show a declining trend over time with fluctuations becoming overall less extreme.

Nigeria's patterns of economic shrinking and growing is in line with Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) findings regarding the European long run growth performance that high growth rates are generally accompanied by high economic shrinking rates. Their finding of rising income levels mainly owing to lower shrinking frequencies rather than to lower shrinking rates is also confirmed by the Nigerian case. The author's findings on the long run performance of the European industrialised economies thus hold in a modern developmental context for the case of Nigeria. Based on the results of this economic performance analysis, the subsequent assessment of potential factors contributing to economic shrinking and an economy's resilience thereof assesses whether the factors show variation in the two net economic shrinking decades of the 1980s and 1990s compared to the other decades of net growth. The 2000s and to a lesser extent to the 1970s as the decades of the highest net economic growth receive particular attention in this comparison.

4.2 Factors behind Economic Shrinking in Nigeria

4.2.1 Proximate Factor: Structural Change and Technological Change

This chapter discusses the two factors of structural change and technological change as proposed by Broadberry and Wallis (2017) as a single proximate factor of economic performance due to the factors' close intertwinement. Structural change and technological change go hand in hand since productivity increases in the agricultural sector constitute the driving factor behind structural change (Timmer, 2016). The chapter follows Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) approach in conducting an economic performance analysis of each sector of the

economy separately resembling the previous analysis of the entire economy. In addition to this analysis and the assessment of TFP levels, the chapter consults additional measures of structural transformation to provide a more complete picture of the Nigerian case. According to *Proposition A*, the Nigerian economy should be more diversified and show a higher degree of structural transformation and TFP in the decades during which its economy shows a higher resilience to economic shrinking.

The Groningen Growth and Development Centre 10-Sector Database (Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015) provides GDP and employment share data of each Nigerian economic sector between 1960 and 2011. While the World Bank (2019) also provides data on sector growth, this chapter employs the Groningen Growth and Development Centre 10-Sector Database as a source instead since only that database provides information on the mining sector, which is of particular importance in the Nigerian case as the subsequent analysis shows. Remaining data is gathered from a variety of sources such as the Penn World Tables (Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015) for total factor productivity (TFP).



Figure 4.3 Nigerian total factor productivity, 2011=1, 1960-2014 (adapted from Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015)

Beginning with an assessment of TFP, *Figure 4.3* shows Nigerian TFP between 1960 and 2014 employing 2011 as the baseline year. The more shrinking resilient decades of the 1960s and 1970s indeed show significantly higher productivity levels than the net shrinking decades of the 1980s and 1990s. It is also striking that Nigeria's record high in TFP was reached just after independence from colonial rule. Surprisingly, the productivity levels of the 2000s prove to be only marginally higher than of those of the net shrinking decades despite the 2000s high economic performance. Low productivity levels might thus have led to economic shrinking in the 1980s and 1990s but they do not seem to present a necessary condition to avoid shrinking in the Nigerian case. The observed pattern is therefore only partially in line with *Proposition A*.



Figure 4.4 Economic complexity index measuring the complexity of Nigerian export products (adapted from the Observatory of Economic Complexity, 2019) and GDP per capita growth in %, 1968-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

The resource curse literature assigns a lack of economic diversification an essential role in rendering growth volatile. Hausmann, Hwang & Rodrik (2007) and the IMF (2014) confirm this proposition. *Figure 4.4* maps the complexity of Nigerian exports since 1968 against its GDP per capita growth rates. Until 2002, both show relatively similar trends: Growth rates slowly decline parallel to economic complexity in the 1970s; while the 1980s are characterized by an increase in export product complexity despite the frequent and high economic shrinking, the 1990s show lower economic complexity accompanying the net shrinking experience. However, the decade of the 2000s showing the highest economic complexity indicating that the strong economic performance must have been built on a low range of products. In contrast, the 2010s face a lower economic performance with more frequent shrinking despite the improvements in the complexity of Nigerian export products. Once again, economic diversification does not seem to present a necessary condition for an absence of economic shrinking. *Proposition A* is thus once again only partly in line with the Nigerian experience.



Figure 4.5 Sectoral GDP shares of the Nigerian economy in %, 1960-2011 (adapted from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

The sectoral GDP shares in *Figure 4.5* show a similar pattern as the TFP and complexity data. The GDP shares of the different sectors largely correspond to the predictions of Proposition A when comparing the 1960s and 1970s with the 1980s and 1990s. However, a different pattern emerges for the two most recent decades. Until 1980, Nigeria undergoes a process of structural transformation with increasingly lower shares of its GDP generated by the agricultural sector and with slow but stable growth in the manufacturing sector. The Nigerian economy becomes more prone to economic shrinking once the process of structural transformation starts stagnating and eventually reverses itself in the 1980s and 1990s. However, the reversal trend continues even in the more recent net growing decades. Particularly the manufacturing sector faces a continuous decline since 1983 without being replaced by significantly large increases in other sectors. Therefore, the 2000s once again present an irregularity in the previous trends contradicting the assumptions of *Proposition A*. Nigeria's increasing reliance on the mining sector as a contribution to the country's GDP, could constitute one possible explanation for these unexpected trends emerging from the 2000s onwards. This phenomenon is therefore further investigated after following the continued assessment of the structural transformation process.



Figure 4.6 Sectoral employment shares of the Nigerian economy in %, 1960-2011 (adapted from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

The sectoral employment shares in *Figure 4.6* confirm the pattern emerging from the GDP shares. A structural transformation seems to be in progress until about 1983 when the process begins to reverse itself. Both, the manufacturing and the mining sector prove to be relatively labour-scarce during the entire time period despite their large changes in contribution to GDP. The employment shares therefore generally confirm the paradox of the high economic performance of the 2000s despite the continued reversal of the previously ongoing structural transformation counter to *Proposition A*.

Sectors		Shares					Contributions			
	1960s	1970s	1980s	1990s	2000s	1960s		1970s		
						Growing Shrinking		Growing	Shrinking	
Agriculture	51.66	33.67	31.43	34.08	37.43	5.433	-2.779	19.359	0	
Mining	2.15	17.80	20.25	36.95	38.29	56.186	-7.481	57.599	-2.331	
Manufacturing	14.24	18.17	20.54	7.99	3.21	14.199	-1.850	26.696	0	
Other	4.56	4.34	4.00	3.00	3.01	82.024	-14.579	153.392	0	

Table 4.2 Sectoral shares and contributions to economic shrinking and growing in Nigeria, 1960-2009 (author's calculations based on data adapted from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

Sectors		Contributions									
	198	80s	19	90s	2000s						
	Growing	Shrinking	Growing	Shrinking	Growing	Shrinking					
Agriculture	20.245	-0.214	34.350	0	25.421	0					
Mining	41.569	-6.313	49.808	-5.017	30.825	-4.190					
Manufacturing	15.443	-0.955	17.483	0	14.834	0					
Other	95.575	0	210.785	0	189.744	0					

Table 4.2 (see *Appendix B* for more details) shows the average GDP share per sector and decade as well as each sector's economic shrinking and growing per decade. The mining sector proves to be particularly volatile, on average growing more than the agricultural and manufacturing sectors but also shrinking at higher rates and more frequently than those sectors. Considering this particular volatility of the mining sector, an increasing reliance on this sector should consequently result in higher volatility of the entire economy. Paradoxically, the trends in *Figure 4.5* indicate that when the Nigerian economy was particularly prone to economic shrinking in the 1980s, the mining sector contributed relatively little to total GDP, whereas the most shrinking resilient period of the 2000s relied heavily on mining as a share of national income. Therefore, the heavy reliance on the mining, i.e. oil, sector requires further attention.



Figure 4.7 Real petroleum price, 1900=100, 1960-2017 (adapted from Jacks, 2019)

From the previous analyses of the Nigerian economic sectors, the mining sector has emerged as a key sector to national income and as a key contributor to economic shrinking. *Figure 4.7* shows the real petroleum price. Production value data by Ross and Mahdavi (2015, see *Appendix C*) confirms that Nigerian production indeed corresponds very closely to the price trends. With the exception of the 1960s when Nigerian oil production was still low, the Nigerian economic performance and particularly its patterns of economic shrinking corresponds closely to oil price trends. The Nigerian economy proves particularly resilient to economic shrinking when oil prices are high and particularly volatile during oil busts. Much of the economic shrinking of the Nigerian economy can consequently be attributed to the resource curse.

In conclusion, two distinct patterns emerge from the analysis of structural change and technological change. The economic shrinking and growing patterns of the 20th century largely support *Proposition A* indicating the beginning of a structural transformation in the net growing periods of the 1960s and 1970s and a reversal of the structural transformation from the 1980s onwards. However, since the 2000s a different pattern emerges. Despite a continuous lack of structural transformation and lower productivity levels than in the 1960s and 1970s, the economy becomes more resilient to economic shrinking. The economy's high reliance on its

oil sector could be a potential explanation for this pattern with oil prices coinciding observably with Nigeria's economic performance. The resource curse may consequently largely be responsible for Nigeria's volatile economy.

4.2.2 Proximate Factor: Demographic Change

Broadberry and Wallis (2017) consider demographic change as another proximate factor of economic performance. While they hold that the exact relationship between demographic factors and resilience to economic shrinking remains unclear and contested in the literature, extreme fluctuations in demographic trends could result in economic growth volatilities. According to *Proposition B*, demographic changes correlate with changes in economic performance. The World Bank (2019) provides data on total population, population growth, birth and death rates, as well as enough data to derive age pyramids for each decade covering the entire time period under assessment.



Figure 4.8 Nigerian total population and population growth in %, 1960-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

Figure 4.8 shows the total population of Nigeria as well as the population growth rate. The total population data shows an exponential increase in Nigeria's number of inhabitants from 45,137,812 in 1960 to 190,886,311 in 2017 stemming from a relatively stable population growth rate around 2.5%. The growth rate however differs from its general trend between 1972 and 1983: the growth rate surges rapidly from just above 2% to just above 3% in 1978 before falling back to just above 2.5% where it remains stable from then on. While the two decades of the 1960s and 1970s with a net positive economic performance thus coincided with increasingly higher population growth rates peaking in the particularly high economic performance decade of the 1970s, the following decades show only marginal fluctuations in the population growth





Figure 4.9 Birth rate and death rate in Nigeria per 1000 people, 1960-2016 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

As *Figure 4.9* shows, birth and death rates over the time period under examination are both in constant decline. The observed constant population growth resulted from a consistently higher birth rate over the entire time period. On average 19 out of 1000 people died each year while there were on average 44 births per 1000 people. Furthermore, the gap between birth and death rate first increased until 1980 as already indicated by the growing population rates and then stayed relatively constant over the next four decades. Whereas in 1960 20 more people were born than died per 1000 people, the latest data of 2016 shows a gap of 26 per 1000 people. The gap between birth and death rate has increased since the death rate has declined by 53% over the entire time period, whereas the birth rate has declined by merely 16% over the same time. Similar to the population growth rate, birth and death rates show no irregularities systematically coinciding with periods of economic shrinking or growth and thus do not offer support for *Proposition B*. The initial surge in birth rates resulting in higher population growth in the 1970s could stem from the economic gains during this period according to Malthusian assumptions. However, the figures do not provide any further confirmation for the existence of Malthusian waves.



Figure 4.10 Nigerian age pyramids in % of the total male/female population, 1960, 1980, 1990, 2000, 2010 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

The age structure of the population constitutes another factor that could potentially impact the Nigerian growth performance. However, a closer examination of the population's age structure in age pyramids for each decade (see *Figure 4.10*) shows very little variation. Generally, all age pyramids show a very young population as is common among many developing countries particularly in Sub-Saharan Africa. Once again, the net shrinking decades of the 1980s and 1990s do not show any anomalies compared to the four net growing decades and *Proposition B* can thus not be supported with regard to the age structure of the population.

The data indicates that Nigeria has not undergone a demographic transition similar to more developed countries yet. The country has succeeded in significantly lowering the death rate indicating health improvements of the overall population. However, birth rates do not follow at the same pace and remain relatively high thus leading to the observed continuous population growth. After a temporary fluctuation in the population growth rate in the 1970s, the rate stabilized around 2.5% a year. Apart from the fluctuation in the 1970s there is no indication of a Malthusian trap. The lack of fluctuations in the data and very little variation in trends in the net economic shrinking periods of the 1980s and 1990s, indicates that demographic trends are very unlikely to have affected Nigeria's economic performance significantly thus rejecting *Proposition B*.

4.2.3 Proximate Factor: Incidences of Warfare

Broadberry and Wallis (2017) classify incidences of warfare as their final proximate factor of long run economic performance. According to *Proposition C*, an absence of warfare correlates with a higher resilience against economic shrinking. Mostly qualitative data from the Uppsala Conflict Data Program (2019a) providing extensive information regarding armed conflicts from 1945 helps assess whether armed conflict is responsible for the economic shrinking frequently faced by the Nigerian economy.

According to the Uppsala Conflict Data Program (2019a), armed conflict in Nigeria has resulted in 51,196 deaths since 1989. While the countries post-colonial history is generally characterised by inter-ethnic tensions, particularly between the Muslim Northern regions and the Christian Southern regions, the political liberalization of 1999 has led to an increase in armed conflicts between ethnic groups since the beginning of the 2000s (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019a). Nigeria has a heterogeneous population not only divided by religion with almost equal amounts of Christians and Muslims (see *Figure 4.11*) but also between its approximately 250 different ethnicities (Central Intelligence Agency, 2019, see *Figure 4.12*) with no ethnicity constituting the majority.



Figure 4.11 Religions of Nigeria (adapted from the Central Intelligence Agency, 2019)



Figure 4.12 Ethnicities of Nigeria (adapted from the Central Intelligence Agency, 2019)

Ethnic tensions resulted in the Nigeria's first armed conflict since independence from colonial rule in the form of the 1966 coup d'état by an Igbo group. The countercoup that followed established military rule (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019a). Indeed, the Nigerian economy faced economic shrinking starting in 1966 and in the two years following the conflict, providing support for *Proposition C*.

Confirming the predictions of resource curse theorists regarding the high conflict potential resulting from the struggle for control over natural resources (Mehlum, Moene & Torvik, 2006b), Nigeria has experienced several instances of civil war related to its oil-abundance. Between 1967 and 1970, the Biafran War broke out when the oil-rich Biafran region demanded independence and control over the natural resource (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019b). A temporary surge of violence following this conflict occurred once again in 1999 between the ethnic group of the Ijaw and the Nigerian government (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019b). In 2004, another instance of armed conflict occurred in the same region between the Niger Delta

People's Volunteer Force, also an Ijaw group, its rival, the Niger Delta Vigilantes, and the Nigerian Government (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019c). Whereas the Nigerian economy shrank between 1967 and 1968 as well as in 1999, the economy achieved high growth rates despite the ongoing conflict in 1969, 1970 and 2004. The pattern here is thus less clear with regard to the economic performance effects of the conflicts over Nigeria's oil-rich regions and does not offer full support for *Proposition C*.

As many other African countries, Nigeria inherited poorly defined borders from colonial rule. In 1996, border hostilities between Cameroon and Nigeria developed into armed conflict, after Nigeria had employed soldiers in the contested area in 1993 and Nigerian civilians had been killed by the Cameroonian government in 1994 (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019d). The conflict was characterised by continuous sporadic outbreaks of violence between 1997 and 1998 as well as between 2000 and 2002 (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019d). Despite the conflict's official resolution by the International Court of Justice in 2002, sporadic outbreaks of violence reoccurred in 2005. Despite the ongoing conflicts, the Nigerian economy solely shrank between 1993 and 1995 thus again not showing a clear pattern of conflict coinciding with economic shrinking as predicted by *Proposition C*.

Nigeria has recently experienced surges in religiously motivated warfare parallel to the global surge in Islamism. In 2004, the Afghan Taliban inspired student movement Ahlul Sunnah Jamaa conducted several attacks on police stations in the struggle to achieve an independent Northern Nigerian Islamic State but was quickly defeated by the Nigerian government (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019e). In 2009, another Islamist group emerged. Jama'atu Ahlis Sunna Lidda'awati wal-Jihad (commonly referred to as *Boko Haram*) struggled for control over Nigerian territory in order to establish a Nigerian Islamist state. In 2015, this Islamist group pledged allegiance to the so-called Islamic State thus officially joining the global Islamist struggle. With the exception of 2010, active fighting between the Nigerian government and the Islamist group lasted from 2009 until 2017 costing 11,894 battle-related deaths in total, Nigeria's highest number of war casualties since the beginning of data recording in 1989 (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019f). Throughout this period of conflict, the Nigerian economy experienced economic shrinking only in the most recent years between 2015 and 2017.



Figure 4.13 GDP per capita growth in %, armed conflict marked by triangles, 1961-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019 and the Uppsala Conflict Program, 2019a, b, c, d, e, f)

Figure 4.13 summarizes the incidences of warfare Nigeria experienced since 1960 and relates them to the country's economic performance each year. In conclusion, social conflict does not consistently coincide with periods of economic shrinking. The net shrinking decade of the 1980s was a peaceful decade, whereas the 2000s achieved a high economic performance despite numerous conflicts. Incidences of warfare did not inevitably lead to economic shrinking: the years of 1969, 1970 and 2004 recorded Nigeria's highest growth rates despite ongoing conflict. The fact that all three years were characterised by struggles over the control of Nigeria's oil resources, could explain this paradox with the causality running in the opposite direction with high oil revenues sparking conflict over the distribution of those revenues. However, both oil prices and oil production figures do not show exceptionally high figures in those years (see *Chapter 4.2.1, Figure 4.7* and *Appendix C*). The paradox therefore remains unresolved.

Since no clear pattern emerges indicating that incidences of warfare necessarily correlated with economic shrinking, the evidence from the Nigerian case only offers limited support for *Proposition C*. Nevertheless, some instances of economic shrinking in Nigeria's long run economic performance could have resulted from warfare. For instance, the decline in economic performance in recent years could have resulted from the persisting conflict between the Nigerian government and Jama'atu Ahlis Sunna Lidda'awati wal-Jihad. Factors such as the number of casualties and the diversion of government funds towards warfare rather than economic development could determine the effect of individual wars on economic performance. Unfortunately, casualty data is limited and government expenditure data is unavailable for Nigeria preventing further investigation of the exact channels through which warfare might affect economic performance.

4.2.4 Ultimate Factor: Institutional Change

According to Broadberry and Wallis (2017) institutional change from a closed to an open access order constitutes the ultimate factor behind a high resilience against economic shrinking. *Proposition D* predicts that open access orders correlate with a higher resilience to economic shrinking. A careful assessment of Nigerian political history since 1960 in terms of open and limited access order characteristics helps determine whether the different political systems the country employed over the past six decades contributed to economic shrinking or a resilience thereof.

Broadberry and Wallis (2017) identify the key difference between limited and open access orders in their identity-bound rules as opposed to impersonal rules. North, Wallis and Weingast (2009) further specify the concept by holding that limited access orders lack the "consent of the governed" (p.12), show only "small numbers of organizations" (p.12), employ relatively small and centralized institutions and organize their personal social relationships through privilege, hierarchy, inequalities and insecure property rights. Open access orders in contrast show a large number of organisations including a rich civil society, relatively big and centralized institutions and organize their "impersonal social relationships" (p.12) through the rule of law, equality and secure property rights. Data scarcity hinders a complete assessment of all these factors for the complete period of examination in Nigeria. However, there is enough available data regarding the Nigeria's regime types and transition in order to match general patterns with the country's economic performance.





The polity IV indicator shown in *Figure 4.12* combines data concerning the competitiveness of executive recruitment and political participation, the constraints on the chief executive, the

openness of the executive recruitment and the regulation of participation into a measure of a country's democratic or authoritarian character (Center for Systemic Peace, 2019b). Lacking a comprehensive dataset concerning social orders as classified by North, Wallis and Weingast (2009), the authors instead make use of this Polity IV dataset (Center for Systemic Peace, 2019a) that also includes information concerning the Nigerian case. They classify open access orders as corresponding to democratic regime types and limited access orders as corresponding to more autocratic regimes. The data included in the indicator listed above specifically answers the question whether the regime governs with the consent of the people and assesses how limited the access opportunities into government positions are.

The Nigerian case does not show a clear indication of a relationship between the regime type and economic performance. While the net economic shrinking periods of the 1990s and 1990s were predominantly autocratic, the early 1980s experienced economic shrinking despite the brief democratization of Nigeria's institutions. The economic growth periods show similarly inconclusive evidence. The 1970s showed a high economic performance despite the reign of an autocratic regime, whereas the economically successful period of the 2000s showed significantly higher rates of democratization. Furthermore, the higher democracy indicator in recent years has not prevented economic shrinking. The Nigerian case of political participation does therefore not offer support for *Proposition D*.

The second proxy measure North, Wallis and Weingast (2009) employ to distinguish limited and open access orders, the size of the government measured in government expenditure is unfortunately unavailable for Nigeria. However, the aspect of impersonality of rules Broadberry and Wallis (2017) highlight also provides valuable information regarding the existence of limited and open access orders. Nigeria's history is marked by multiple coups d'états. Not all coups were violent as the one in 1966 (Uppsala Conflict Data Program, 2019a). Not only did coups replace the top executive during times of military rule as in 1985 and 1990, but they also served as a transitional measure to democracy in 1975 as well as to end democratic rule in 1983 (Country Watch, 2018). Failed democratisation during the 1990s furthermore led to multiple instances of military-backed personnel change (Country Watch, 2018). This history of political power derived from de facto control of the military rather than based on constitutional law even during times of democracy shows that even democratization did not break the impersonal character of social and political relationships in Nigeria. Therefore, the country never fully transitioned to an open access order until the 2000s despite the brief periods of democratization. This lack of impersonal rule could explain why Nigeria's economic performance and democratization indicators do not correlate. The 2000s successful economic performance could from this perspective be an indication of the country's first true transition towards impersonal rule.



Figure 4.15 Estimated level of the Nigerian shadow economy in % of GDP, 1961-2007 (adapted from Elgin & Öztunali, 2012)

The size of the informal economy indicated in Figure 4.15 constitutes another indicator of the impersonality of social relationships, however focusing on the population as a whole rather than merely the rulers. Broadberry and Wallis (2017) hold that the existence of elite privileges will lead to a limitation of the "extent of the market" (p.25). Market access constitutes a particular problem in the Nigerian economy. Estimations of an existing shadow economy by Elgin and Öztunali (2012) show that Nigeria has consistently high rates of informal economic activity indicating potential issues with access to formal economic organizations such as firms. The large informal Nigerian market shows that a large part of the population remains engaged in economic activities organised around personal lines in line with the limited access order rather than impersonal activities coordinated by the legal framework of the state. The estimations indeed indicate in line with Proposition D that the size of the informal economy decreased during the net growth periods of the 1960s and 1970s, followed by continuous increases during the net shrinking periods of the 1980s and 1990s. The 2000s period with the highest economic performance once again saw a decrease in informal exchange. While these trends indicate that people increasingly engaging in formal rather than informal exchange has positive effects on the country's resilience to economic shrinking, the level of the informal economy remains high and is thus unlikely alone responsible for the country's economic performance. The figures reject also reject the previous indications of a transition to an open access order after 2000. Nigeria most likely remained in a limited access order even after the 20th century.



Figure 4.16 Nigerian Gini coefficient in %, 1959-2010 (author's calculations of yearly average of the highest quality estimations available from UNU-WIDER, 2019)



Figure 4.17 Nigerian income shares, 1959-2010 (author's calculations of yearly average of the highest quality estimations available from UNU-WIDER, 2019)

Broadberry and Wallis (2017) hold that for the institutional change necessary for a higher resilience against economic shrinking a mere change in the rules does not suffice but rather social dynamics need to change as well. Data for multiple measures indicating social dynamics such as inequalities and hierarchies is available for Nigeria. UNU-WIDER (2019) provides a collection of estimations of Gini coefficients and income shares held by each quintile of the population for Nigeria. *Figure 4.16* and *4.17* provide the average of the highest quality data

available for each year. Whereas inequalities widened in the first decade after independence, in the 1970s inequalities decreased significantly correlating with a period with a relatively large resilience to economic shrinking. In the mid-1980s, inequalities began to widen once again correlating with the two decades of net economic shrinking. The pattern that emerges shows widening inequalities in the decades with higher net economic shrinking and shrinking inequalities in net economic growth periods. This trend is also confirmed by the poverty headcount ratio that grew to 63.5% of the population in 1996 (see *Appendix D*) starting from the first poverty measurement at 53.3% in 1985. Similar to inequalities, poverty rates also recovered in the 2000s to 53.5% in 2003. However, the occurring stagnation in improving the poverty rate observed in 2009 at 53.5% could be a partial explanation for the reoccurring shrinking rates in the 2010s. Inequality measures as well as poverty measures therefore offer support for *Proposition D*.



Figure 4.18 Nigerian primary gross school enrolment in %, and gender parity index, scale 0 to 1, 1970-2016 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)

The World Development Indicators (World Bank, 2019) provide data regarding three more measures showing different aspects of Nigeria's equality. Firstly, unemployment rates for Nigeria available only since 1986 continuously remained at about 4% since they were first reported and relatively equal for both genders. However, in the most recent period of economic shrinking since 2013 the numbers significantly increased to their highest point since the first measurement around 6% (see *Appendix D*). Primary school enrolments in *Figure 4.18* show a different pattern. Gender inequalities in education continuously improved with the exception of a decrease from near perfect gender parity in 2014 in the two most recent years. This pattern once again provides support for *Proposition D* with regard to the most recent years becoming more prone to economic opportunities. While primary school enrolment figures also show a recent deterioration of the trend, the figures also show more variation in trends prior to the 2000s. The largest improvements were made during the economically successful decade of the

1970s, deterioration followed in the 1980s and improvements were again made in the 2000s, however only until 2006 and remaining far below the rates of the 1970s. The patterns broadly confirm *Proposition D*, however once again the 2000s show a slightly distinct pattern than expected. The third measure of equal economic opportunities the World Bank (2019) provides shows the remaining differences between the rural and urban population. Access to electricity has continuously stayed significantly lower in rural regions compared to urban areas (see *Appendix D*). While the difference has decreased continuously since 1990, a divergence of more than 40 percentage points persists. Furthermore, Nigeria still fails to provide electricity to more than 10% of its urban population without any significant improvements since the first measurement in 1990 thus limiting the economic opportunities of a large part of its population.

While Nigeria has therefore undergone multiple periods of democratization superficially indicating a transition from a limited to an open access order, a closer analysis shows that impersonal rules and privileges largely persist indicating that the country in fact remains in a limited access order. The data shows that steps closer towards an open access order generally led to improvements in economic performance throughout Nigeria's history. However, the persistence of a limited access order offers a potential explanation of Nigeria's continued struggle to sustain its economic growth. The return of economic shrinking after the economically successful period of the 2000s could be an indication of the lack of societal transformation towards a higher inclusiveness not just politically but also economically in line with *Proposition D*. Once again, the 2000s stand out as a period with only limited improvements in different institutional factors despite their high economic performance.

4.3 Discussion

The previous analysis focuses on three proximate factors and a single ultimate factor potentially affecting the Nigerian long run economic performance since 1960. The economic performance analysis showed a particular vulnerability of the Nigerian economy to economic shrinking in the 1980s and 1990s and a relatively successful economic performance in the 1970s and especially in the 2000s with a complete absence of economic shrinking. The four propositions guiding the analysis receive only partial support from the Nigerian case. However, the analysis of the four factors helps shed new light on Nigeria's economy and particularly its problematic continued economic shrinking. Several broad policy implications result from the findings of the empirical analysis.

The analysis of Nigeria's structural change and productivity levels showed that much of Nigeria's economic volatility stems from the country's reliance on oil. The decades during which the country was largely free of economic shrinking largely correlated with favourable oil prices. While an ongoing structural transformation was observable until 1980, the new millennium shows a very different picture. The striking economic success of the 2000s was neither based on a successful structural transformation nor on significant growth in productivity levels. Consequently, high oil prices provide a reasonable explanation for the decade's high economic performance. The indication of the country's high and increasing reliance on oil is particularly worrying due to two factors. Firstly, the oil industry employs a consistently very

small fraction of the population and therefore has little potential for improving the economic welfare of a broad spectrum of the Nigerian society in the absence of significant redistributive policies. Secondly, the analysis shows that the oil industry in Nigeria constitutes the most volatile sector of the country and will thus continue to cause economic shrinking. The country therefore needs to focus on its more labour-intensive industries and either redistribute oil rents or intensify economic activity in non-oil sectors while advancing the currently stagnating structural transformation process. These measures would also lead to a diversification of the Nigerian economy.

The analysis of demographic change showed that it is rather unlikely that Nigerian economic shrinking resulted from changes in demographic factors since there was very little variation in the trends of these factors over the past six decades. Therefore, no demographic policy implications can be derived and Nigeria's economic performance polices should instead focus on improving the other three factors of economic shrinking.

Nigeria shows a significant amount of incidences of warfare in the country's young history. A few of these instances of warfare could well be responsible for some instances of economic shrinking. However, the extreme shrinking observed in the 1990s and 1980s cannot be attributed to warfare since the two decades were almost entirely peaceful. Reducing warfare through reconciliation of different societal groups does thus not represent the main solution in reducing the gravest economic shrinking, but might help prevent some instances of economic shrinking.

The institutional analysis shows that political participation through elections is not sufficient for creating lasting positive effects on resilience to economic shrinking. The country also needs to sustain the electoral regime changes of the past two decades and prevent reoccurrences of political rule based on personal power relations. Another large task the country is facing is an integration of all parts of its society into the formal economy and a lowering of inequalities to eliminate societal privileges that help sustain the current system of identity rather than impersonal rules. The institutional analysis also indicates that the economic success of the 2000s was not solely built on favourable oil prices but may also constitute the result of institutional and societal improvements.

The four factors of economic shrinking are interrelated according to the theoretical approach (Broadberry & Wallis, 2017). Bringing about a structural transformation targeting particularly labour-intensive industries would not only create more jobs in the formal economy but also lift people out of poverty and potentially reduce inequalities. At the same time, investments in education can raise productivity and reduce social relationships based on identity rather than impersonal rules. While the country has achieved to establish a more democratic regime in recent years, solutions need to be found to ensure an incorporation of different religions and ethnicities in the political process, which could also help reduce societal tensions leading to armed conflict.

As the ultimate factor of economic shrinking and resilience thereof, institutional change bears the largest potential in improving Nigeria's economic performance. Open access institutions would generate a political economy based on the broad-based consent of Nigeria's citizens. This social order would then redefine the economic priorities away from the oil sector due to the low amount of people engaged in this industry. Furthermore, the structural transformation process would be fuelled by higher equality in the population's economic opportunities. If the necessary infrastructure such as electricity and education were provided to the entire population, people would be able to engage in higher productivity activities. An open access order guaranteeing citizens equality and impersonal rules that balance the political power of different societal groups, would most probably also result in a reduction of conflicts that may potentially harm economic performance. Therefore, an institutional reform as according to Broadberry and Wallis' (2017) theory bears the highest potential of all four factors in reducing economic shrinking in Nigeria.

5 Conclusion

The thesis answered the question of why Nigeria faced frequent and high rates of economic shrinking between 1960 and 2017 and how the country can avoid these in the future. The analysis aimed to assess the validity of the theory for the Nigerian case by taking into account a range of theoretical propositions. Furthermore, the thesis aimed to find case-specific answers to the goal of avoiding economic shrinking in formulating broad policy recommendations for Nigeria. Lastly, the thesis contributed a new methodological approach to the economic shrinking literature by means of a single case study that helped cope with the data scarce environment through the usage of data triangulation. These aims of the thesis were achieved in five analytical steps guided by the economic shrinking approach of Broadberry and Wallis (2017).

Firstly, the economic performance analysis of the Nigerian economy between 1960 and 2017 identified the decades of the 1980s and 1990s as periods of net economic shrinking. The 1980s faced the lowest economic performance of all with the highest shrinking frequency, whereas the 1990s faced the highest average rate of shrinking. In contrast, the 1970s and the 2000s constitute the decades of the highest economic performances with the 2000s being particularly successful in resisting economic shrinking.

Secondly, the structural and technological change analysis showed that Nigeria began the process of structural transformation in the 1960s but reversed the process since the 1980s accompanied by an increasing reliance on its oil industry. The trends of the 20^{th} century therefore correspond with *Proposition A* in that a higher degree of structural transformation coincided with a higher resilience to economic shrinking. However, in terms of productivity and economic diversification the trends provide a less clear support to the previously stated proposition since both peaked in the early 1960s. The 2000s generally emerged as a decade running counter to the trends observed in the 20^{th} century achieving high economic performance without strikingly high levels of productivity, diversification or structural transformation.

Thirdly, the demographic change analysis did not generate observable patterns between economic shrinking and population growth, birth and death rates or the population's age structure. The results do thus not correspond with *Proposition B* that demographic changes correlate with changes in economic performance. The observed patterns showed that demographics most likely played no significant role in Nigeria's economic shrinking.

Fourthly, the analysis of incidences of warfare in relation to economic shrinking resulted in mixed observations. Some wars correlated with economic performance while others did not. However, especially the recent surge in civil warfare may have had an impact on the recent reoccurrence of economic shrinking. *Proposition C* therefore only received partial support. A lack of data concerning important factors such as government expenditure on warfare and the

number of war-related casualties from 1960 unfortunately prevented the analysis from distinguishing between individual incidences of warfare and their direct economic effects.

Lastly, the institutional change analysis established that Nigeria has not yet transitioned to an open access order, which is regarded as the ultimate condition to achieve resilience against economic shrinking according to theory. *Proposition D* received supporting evidence through some of the results in that whenever Nigeria came closer to the establishment of an open access order, the economy also became more resilient to shrinking. This trend was especially observable in terms of inequalities leading to a lack of economic opportunities for parts of the Nigerian population. The observations regarding democratization however, showed no clear pattern of correlation with economic performance.

Since institutional change was identified as the ultimate factor behind economic performance by the theory (Broadberry & Wallis, 2017), a change in Nigeria's institutional structures would result in changes in the other factors and thus represent the most effective starting point for a strategy against economic shrinking. Two of the proximate factors also resulted in more specific policy implications. Firstly, Nigeria requires a new structural transformation while also decreasing its reliance on oil. Secondly, a reconciliation of different societal groups is essential to decreasing potentially economically harmful violent conflicts.

The results of the thesis did not only show which factors would need to be improved in order to avoid economic shrinking in the future but they also showed the important impact of resource dependence on economic performance volatility as consistent with resource curse theory. This resource curse aspect to the Nigerian case of economic shrinking could represent an important starting point for consecutive research regarding the Nigerian economic performance. Furthermore, in addition to a closer assessment of the Nigerian oil industry, future research could turn towards external factors of economic shrinking such as trade, aid and IMF loans, which remained excluded from this assessment due to its limited theoretical approach.

In addition to contributing to resource curse debates, the thesis also showed that the "African Growth Miracle" (Young, 2012) of the 2000s could not be sustained in Nigeria in recent years largely due to an incomplete institutional transformation resulting in a lack of structural transformation and continuing violent conflict. Future research could therefore investigate the economic shrinking experiences of other Sub-Saharan African countries in order to assess in how far they correspond to the Nigerian experience of an unsustained growth miracle.

The thesis could provide the basis for two additional research inquiries. Firstly, the Nigerian case could be studied within a longer time period starting in colonial times as the analysis showed that the country experienced record achievements in productivity and economic diversity by the end of the colonial reign which requires further investigation. Secondly, different developing countries' long run economic performances should be studied from a comparative economic shrinking perspective, on the one hand to inductively continue the development of the relatively recent theoretical approach and on the other hand, to find strategies against economic shrinking that could work successfully across a multitude of countries. The thesis therefor merely presents a starting point for further research within the relatively young research field focusing on economic shrinking in developing countries.

References

- Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S. & J.A. Robinson, J.A. (2001). The Colonial Origins of Comparative Development: An Empirical Investigation, *American Economic Review*, vol.91, no.5, pp.1369-1401
- Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S., & Robinson, J. (2004). Institutions as the Fundamental Cause of Long run Growth, working paper, no.10481, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w10481.pdf [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- Andersson, M. & Palacio, A. (2017). Catch up Growth and Social Capability in Developing Countries: a Conceptual and Measurement Proposal, *Observatorio de Análisis de los Sistemas Internacionales*, no.26, pp.7-23
- Andersson, M. (2018). Resilience to Economic Shrinking: A Social Capability Approach to Processes of Catching up in the Developing World 1951-2016, *Lund Papers in Economic History*, no.183, Available Online: https://lup-lub-luse.ludwig.lub.lu.se/search/publication/b7ed9078-9c2b-48e8-aec2-1cf5e31d6182#? [Accessed 22 May 2019]
- Austin, G. (2008). The 'Reversal of Fortune' Thesis and the Compression of History: Perspectives from African and Comparative Economic History, *Journal of International Development*, vol.20, no.8, pp.996-1027
- Austin, G. (2016). Is Africa Too Late for 'Late Development'?, in M. Andersson & T. Axelsson (eds), *Diverse Development Paths and Structural Transformation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.206-235
- Auty, R. (2001). The Political Economy of Resource-Driven Growth, *European Economic Review*, no.45, pp.839-846
- Auty, R. (2004). The political economy of growth collapses in mineral economies, *Minerals & Energy*, vol.4, pp.3-15
- Barro, R. & Sala-i-Martin, X. (1992). Convergence, *Journal of Political Economy*, vol.100, no.2, pp.223-251
- Berg, A., Ostry, J.D. & Zettelmeyer, J. (2012). What Makes Growth Sustained?, *Journal of Development Economics*, vol.98, pp.149-166
- Broadberry, S. & Wallis, J. (2017). Growing, Shrinking and the Long Run Economic Performance: Historical Perspectives on Economic Development, working paper, no.23343, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w23343 [Accessed 22 May 2019]

- Center for Systemic Peace. (2019a) INSCR Data Page: Polity IV Annual Time-Series 1800-2017, Available Online: http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscrdata.html [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- Center for Systemic Peace. (2019b). Polity IV Project: Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2017, Dataset Users' Manual, Available Online: http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscr/p4manualv2017.pdf [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- Central Intelligence Agency. (2019). The World Factbook: Nigeria, Available Online: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ni.html [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Clark, G. (2007). A Farewell to Alms: A Brief Economic History of the World, Princeton University Press, Available Online (draft version): http://faculty.econ.ucdavis.edu/faculty/gclark/papers/FTA2006-1.pdf contents [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- Cobb, C.W. & Douglas, P.H. (1928). A Theory of Production, *The American Economic Review*, vol.18, no.1, pp.139-165
- Commons, J.R. (1931). Institutional Economics, *American Economic Review*, vol.21, pp.648-657
- Country Watch. (2018). Nigeria: 2018 Country Review, Available Online: http://countrywatch.com/intelligence/countryreviews?countryid=128 [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- Creswell, J. (2014). Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Approaches, 4th edn, London: Sage Publications
- Easterly, W., Kremer, M., Pritchett, L. & Summers, L.H. (1993). Good Policy or Good Luck? Country Growth Performance and Temporary Shocks, *Journal of Monetary Economics*, vol.32, pp.459-483
- Elgin, C. & Öztunali, O. (2012). Shadow Economies around the World: Model Based Estimates, Bogazici University Department of Economics, working paper, no.5, Available Online: http://www.econ.boun.edu.tr/public_html/RePEc/pdf/201205.pdf [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- Engerman, S. & K.L. Sokoloff (2003). Institutional and Non-Institutional Explanations of Economic Differences, working paper, no.9989, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w9989.pdf [Accessed 8 April 2019]
- Feenstra, R.C., Inklaar, R. & Timmer, M.P. (2015). The Next Generation of the Penn World Table, American Economic Review, vol.105, no.10, pp.3150-3182, Available Online: https://www.rug.nl/ggdc/productivity/pwt/ [Accessed 7 April 2019]

- Gerschenkron, A. (1962). Economic Backwardness in Historical Perspective: a Book of Essays, Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press
- Greif, A. & Laitin, D.D. (2004). A Theory of Endogenous Institutional Change, *The American Political Science Review*, vol.98, no.4, pp.633-652
- Hausmann, R., Hwang, J. & Rodrik, D. (2007). What You Export Matters, *Journal of Economic Growth*, vol.12, pp.1-25
- Herrendorf, B., Rogerson, R. & Valentinyi, Á. (2013). Growth and Structural Transformation, working paper, no.18996, NBER, Available Online: http://www.nber.org/papers/w18996 [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- IMF (2014). IMF Policy Paper: Sustaining Long run Growth and Macroeconomic Stability in Low-Income Countries – The Role of Structural Transformation and Diversification, Available Online: https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2014/030514.pdf [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- IMF.(2019).IMFeLibraby,AvailableOnline:https://www.elibrary.imf.org/browse?pageSize=10&sort=titlesort&t_5_0=urn%3A11%2FNG&t_5_1=subsaharanafrica [Accessed 22 May 2019]
- Jacks, D.S. (2019). Data on Real Commodity Prices, 1850 Present, Available Online: http://www.sfu.ca/~djacks/data/boombust/index.html [Accessed 21 May 2019]
- Jones, C.I. (2016). The Facts of Economic Growth, in J.B. Taylor & H. Uhlig (eds), *Handbook of Macroeconomics*, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2nd edn., pp.3-69
- Klenow, P.J. & Rodriguez-Clare, A. (1997). The Neoclassical Revival in Growth Economics: Has It Gone Too Far?, in B.S. Bernanke & J.J. Rotemberg (eds), *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, Cambridge: MIT Press, pp.73-103
- Kögel, T. & Prskawetz, A. (2001). Agricultural Productivity Growth and Escape from the Malthusian Trap, *Journal of Economic Growth*, vol.6, no.4, pp.337-357
- Korotayev, A. & Zinkina, J. (2015). East Africa in the Malthusian Trap?, *Journal of Developing Societies*, vol.31, no.3, pp.385-420
- Lewis, A. (1954). Economic Development with Unlimited Supplies of Labor, *The Manchester School*, vol.22, pp.139-191
- Maddison, A. (1987). Growth and Slowdown in Advanced Capitalist Economies: Techniques of Quantitative Assessment, *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol.15, pp.649-698
- Malthus, R.T.R. (1878). An Essay on the Principle of Population or a View of its Past and Present Effects on Human Happiness with an Inquiry into our Prospects Respecting the Future Removal or Mitigation of the Evils Which It Occasions, 8th edn., London: Reeves and Turner

- Mehlum, H., Moene, K., & Torvik, R. (2006a). Cursed by resources or institutions?, *World Economy*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 1117-1131
- Mehlum, H., Moene, K., & Torvik, R. (2006b). Institutions and the Resource Curse, *The Economic Journal*, no.116, vol.508, pp.1-20
- North, D.C. (1991). Institutions, Journal of Economic Perspectives, vol.5, no.2, pp. 97-112
- North, D.C., Wallis, J.J & Weingast, B.R. (2009). Violence and Social Orders: A Conceptual Framework for Interpreting Recorded Human History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Nunn, N. (2008). The Long-term Effects of Africa's Slave Trades, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol.123, no.1, pp.139–176
- OPEC. (2019). OPEC Share of World Crude Oil Reserves. Available Online: https://www.opec.org/opec_web/en/data_graphs/330.htm [Accessed 7 January 2019]
- Paus, E. (2014). Latin America and the Middle Income Trap, ECLAC-Financing for Development Series, no.250, Available Online: https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/36816/1/S2014300_es.pdf [Accessed 28 May 2018]
- Pritchett, L. (2000). Understanding Patterns of Economic Growth: Searching for Hills among Plateaus, Mountains and Plains, *The World Bank Economic Review*, vol.14, no.2, pp.221-250
- Rodrik, D. (1999). Where Did All the Growth Go? External Shocks, Social Conflict, and Growth Collapses, *Journal of Economic Growth*, vol.4, pp.385-412
- Rodrik, D. (2000). Institutions for High-quality growth: What are they and how to acquire them, working paper, no.7540, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w7540.pdf [Accessed 8 April 2019]
- Rodrik, D. (2003). Introduction: What Do We Learn from Country Narratives?, in D. Rodrik (ed), Search of Prosperity: Analytic Narratives on Economic Growth, Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp.1-22
- Rodrik, D. (2008). Second-best Institutions, working paper, no.14050, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w14050.pdf [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- Ross, M. (2012). The Oil Curse: How Petroleum Wealth Shapes the Development of Nations, Princeton: Princeton University Press
- Ross, M., & Mahdavi, P. (2015). Oil and gas data, 1932-2014, Harvard Dataverse, Available Online: https://dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/ZTPW0Y [Accessed 13 May 2019]

- Ruttan, V.W. (2006) Is War Necessary for Economic Growth?: Military Procurement and Technology Development, New York: Oxford University Press
- Sachs, J. D., & Warner, A. M. (2001). The Curse of Natural Resources, *European economic review*, no.45, vol.4-6, pp.827-838
- Sachs, J.D. (2003). Institutions Don't Rule; Direct Effects of Geography on Per Capita Income, working paper, no.9490, NBER, Available Online: https://www.nber.org/papers/w9490.pdf [Accessed 7 April 2019]
- Solow, R. (1956). A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth, *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol.70, no.1, pp.65-94
- Solow, R. (1957). Technical Change and the Aggregate Production Function, *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, vol.39, no.3, pp.312-320
- The Observatory of Economic Complexity (2019). Economic Complexity Rankings (ECI), Available Online: https://atlas.media.mit.edu/en/rankings/country/eci/?year_range=2013-2017 [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- The World Bank. (2017). New Country Classifications by Income Level: 2017-2018. The Data Blog, web blog post, Available Online: https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/new-countryclassifications income-level-2017-2018 [Accessed 7 January 2019]
- The World Bank. (2019). World Development Indicators. Available Online: https://databank.worldbank.org/data/source/world-development-indicators/ [Accessed 7 January 2019]
- Timmer, C.P. (2016). The Role of Agriculture in 'Catching Up', in M. Andersson & T. Axelsson (eds), *Diverse Development Paths and Structural Transformations in the Escape* from Poverty, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.68-90
- Timmer, M.P., de Vries, G.J.,& de Vries, K. (2015). Patterns of Structural Change in Developing Countries, in J. Weiss & M. Tribe (eds), *Routledge Handbook of Industry and Development*, Routledge, pp. 65-83
- UNU-WIDER (2019). World Income Inequality Database: WIID4, Available Online: https://www.wider.unu.edu/database/world-income-inequality-database-wiid4 [Accessed 13 May 2019]
- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019a). Nigeria, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#country/475 [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019b). Nigeria: Niger Delta, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#/conflict/425 [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019c). NDPVF, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#actor/560 [Accessed 25 April 2019]

- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019d). Government of Cameroon Government of Nigeria, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#statebased/858 [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019e). Government of Nigeria Ahlul Sunnah Jamaa, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#/statebased/889 [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Uppsala Conflict Data Program. (2019f). Government of Nigeria Jama'atu Ahlis Sunna Lidda'awati wal-Jihad, Available Online: https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#/statebased/640 [Accessed 25 April 2019]
- Veblen, T. (1898). Why is Economics Not an Evolutionary Science, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol.12, pp.373-397
- World Bank. (1993). The East Asian Miracle. Oxford: Oxford University Press, Available Online: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/975081468244550798/pdf/multipage.pdf [Accessed 28 May 2018]
- Yin, R.K. (2003). Case Study Research: Design and Methods, 3rd edn, London: Sage Publications
- Young, A. (2012). The African Growth Miracle. *Journal of Political Economy*, vol.120, no.4, pp.696-739

Appendix A

Table 5.1 The Nigerian economic performance, 1960-2014 (author's calculations based on data adapted from Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015)

	Shrinking	Shrinking	Growth	Growth	Shrinking	Growth	Economic
	frequency	rate	frequency	rate	total	total	performance
1960s	0.3	-6.644	0.7	10.918	-1.993	7.643	5.650
1970s	0.3	-2.708	0.7	11.035	-0.813	7.725	6.912
1980s	0.8	-15.472	0.2	5.414	-12.378	1.083	-11.295
1990s	0.7	-9.230	0.3	12.679	-6.461	3.804	-2.657
2000s	0	0	1	29.855	0	29.855	29.855
2010s	0.2	-0.803	0.8	7.315	-0.161	5.852	5.692
1960-2017	0.4	-9.875	0.6	16.071	-3.950	9.643	5.693



Figure 5.1 Comparison of Nigerian GDP per capita growth rates from the Penn World Tables estimations and the World Bank national accounts data (adapted from Feenstra, Inklaar & Timmer, 2015; World Bank, 2019)

Appendix B

	Shrinking	Shrinking	Growth	Growth	Shrinking	Growth	Economic
	frequency	rate	frequency	rate	total	total	performance
1960s	0.222	-12.504	0.778	6.986	-2.779	5.433	2.655
1970s	0	0	1	19.359	0	19.359	19.359
1980s	0.1	-2.143	0.9	22.494	-0.214	20.245	20.030
1990s	0	0	1	34.350	0	34.350	34.350
2000s	0	0	1	25.421	0	25.421	25.421
1960-2009	0.061	-9.051	0.939	22.236	-0.554	20.874	20.320

Table 5.2 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing sector, 1960-2009 (author's calculations based on data from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

Table 5.3 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's mining and quarrying sector, 1960-2009 (author's calculations based on data from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

	Shrinking frequency	Shrinking rate	Growth frequency	Growth rate	Shrinking total	Growth total	Economic performance
1960s	0.222	-33.665	0.778	72.239	-7.481	56.186	48.705
1970s	0.1	-23.312	0.9	63.999	-2.331	57.599	55.268
1980s	0.4	-15.782	0.6	69.281	-6.313	41.569	35.256
1990s	0.4	-12.543	0.6	83.013	-5.017	49.808	44.791
2000s	0.2	-20.950	0.8	38.532	-4.190	30.825	26.635
1960-2009	0.265	-18.911	0.735	63.991	-5.017	47.014	41.997

Table 5.4 Economic performance analysis of Nigeria's manufacturing sector, 1960-2009 (author's calculations based on data from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

	Shrinking frequency	Shrinking rate	Growth frequency	Growth rate	Shrinking total	Growth total	Economic performance
1960s	0.11	-16.65	0.889	15.974	-1.850	14.199	12.348
1970s	0	0	1	26.696	0	26.696	26.696
1980s	0.2	-4.78	0.8	19.304	-0.955	15.443	14.488
1990s	0	0	1	17.483	0	17.483	17.483
2000s	0	0	1	14.834	0	14.834	14.834
1960-2009	0.061	-8.74	0.939	18.964	-0.535	17.803	17.268

Table 5.5 Economic performance analysis of other Nigerian sectors, 1960-2009 (author's calculations based on data from Timmer, de Vries & de Vries, 2015)

	Shrinking frequency	Shrinking rate	Growth frequency	Growth rate	Shrinking total	Growth total	Economic performance
1960s	0.111	-131.208	0.889	92.277	-14.579	82.024	67.445
1970s	0	0	1	153.392	0	153.392	153.392
1980s	0	0	1	95.575	0	95.575	95.575
1990s	0	0	1	210.785	0	210.785	210.785
2000s	0	0	1	189.744	0	189.744	189.744
1960-2009	0.020	-131.208	0.980	150.691	-2.678	147.616	144.938

Appendix C



Figure 5.2 Nigerian oil production value in thousands in 2014 \$US (adapted from Ross & Mahdavi, 2015) and real petroleum price, 1900=100, 1961-2014 (adapted from Jacks, 2019)

Appendix D



Figure 5.3 Nigerian poverty headcount ratio at \$1.90 a day in 2011 PPP as % of the population, 1985, 1992, 1996, 2003, 2009 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)



Figure 5.4 Nigerian unemployment rates in %, national estimation of 1986, International Labour Organization estimations 1991-2017 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)



Figure 5.5 Nigerian rural and urban access to electricity in %, 1990-2016 (adapted from the World Bank, 2019)